A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The court erred in denying appellant' s CrR 3. 6 motion to suppress

evidence. 

2. The court violated appellant' s constitutional right to a public trial

during the jury selection process. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Whether the court erred in failing to suppress evidence

because the search warrant lacked probable cause to believe appellant and

another committed the burglary and also lacked probable cause to believe

contraband would be found in the location searched? 

2. Whether the court violated appellant's constitutional right

to a public trial when it conducted the peremptory challenge portion of the

jury selection process in private without considering the requisite factors

to justify closure? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State originally charged Michael Jones with possession of

methamphetamine with intent deliver, possession of marijuana, and use of

drug paraphernalia. CP 3 -4. These charges stemmed from evidence

recovered at a residence pursuant to a search warrant. CP 1 - 2. 

Information contained in the search warrant affidavit is summarized below. 
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a. The Affidavit In Support Of The Search Warrant

Brian and Trish Settlemyre reported their residence was

burglarized on October 18, 2012. CP 19. A number of items were taken

from the bedroom and from a truck in the garage, including guns. CP 19

Deputy Tully, the affiant, was at the residence on October 19 when

Brian Settlemyre received a call from a " confidential citizen" with

information on the burglary. CP 20. The caller told Brian that " they had

heard Tina Falkner talking a couple weeks ago about ripping off a place

near the golf course where there were a lot of guns." CP 20. The caller

wanted to remain anonymous. CP 20. 

Deputy Tully knew Tina Falkner from previous contacts and was

aware that she was in a relationship with Mike Jones. CP 20. Brian

Settlemyre told Deputy Tully that he was friends with Jones' s dad and that

Jones had previously been in their home. CP 20. The Settlemyres

suspected the house was burglarized by someone who knew what they had

and where it was since the house was not completely torn apart. CP 20. 

On October 20, 2012, Deputy Tully and Sergeant Davis " made

contact with the confidential citizen." CP 20. This person relayed the

same information given to Brian Settlemyre. CP 20. The informant asked

to remain anonymous for fear of retaliation. CP 20. The affidavit states, 

He has also provided reliable information on another case." CP 20. 
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Jones and Tina Falkner had been staying at a residence owned by

Jim and Charlotte Falkner for a couple weeks. CP 18. After meeting with

the " confidential citizen," Deputy Tully and Sergeant Davis went to that

residence to make contact with Tina Falkner. CP 20. Davis knocked on

the door, which partially opened. CP 20. The officers could hear the TV

on in the house. CP 20. Nobody came to the door after multiple knocks. 

CP 20. 

The officers left the residence but stayed in the area. CP 20. A

short time later Jones arrived in his truck. CP 20. When officers

contacted hire outside, Jones appeared nervous and said two people

appeared to be fighting down the road. CP 20. Deputy Tully believed

Jones seemed to be trying to get them to leave. CP 20. 

Deputy Tully told Jones that he was trying to contact Tina Falkner

but that nobody had answered the door. CP 20. Jones said he just tried to

call her but no one answered, so she was not at home. CP 20. Davis

asked him why he still came to the house. CP 20. Jones did not have an

excuse. CP 20. Jones asked if they were doing a warrant sweep. CP 20. 

Davis told him that they wanted to talk with Falkner about the recent

burglary. CP 20. 

Jones said there was no way Falkner was involved in the burglary

because they had both been at her parents' residence all day on the day of
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the burglary. CP 20. Jones said Brian Settlemyre was like his uncle and

he would never steal from him. CP 20. He said multiple times that he

does not steal. CP 20. Jones was calling around trying to find out who

committed the burglary. CP 20. 

Jones also said Falkner was possibly at a residence in South Bend

visiting her kids. CP 20. Jones left after speaking with the police. CP 20. 

Deputy Tully and Sergeant Davis stayed in the area. CP 20. A South

Bend officer informed Deputy Tully that Tina Falkner was not at the

South Bend residence but was probably in Old Willapa. CP 20 -21. 

Later that evening, Sergeant Davis contacted Tina Falkner's dad, 

who was camping with his wife in Winthrop. CP 21. He told Davis that

Tina and Jones had permission to stay in their residence. CP 21. 

On the evening of October 23, 2012, Sergeant Davis called Deputy

Tully and relayed that he had gone to the Falkner residence and saw

Jones's truck in the driveway. CP 21. The lights were on in the house. 

CP 21. All of the windows were covered with sheets, which had not been

covered before. CP 21. The door to the enclosed porch now had a lock, 

which it had not had previously. CP 21. Davis knocked multiple times

but received no answer. CP 21. 

On October 24, 2012, Deputy Tully received a call from a

confidential citizen." CP 21. The affidavit states, " He has previously

M



provided info. to PCSO that has proved to be reliable." CP 21. The

informant asked to remain anonymous for fear of retaliation. CP 21. The

informant told Deputy Tully that " they heard from at least two people that

Mike was going around town bragging about the burglary. Mike was

telling people that he knew about the guns and other items because his

family is close to Brian' s. The citizen also informed me that Mike tried to

sell an item to them that is similar to one stolen from the Settlemyre

residence." CP 21. Later in the day on October 24, 2012, Deputy Tully

drove by the Falkner residence and saw Jones' s truck parked in the

driveway. CP 21. 

Under the heading " Affiant's Knowledge," the affidavit further

states " As a result of your affiant's training and experience and the

experience of other law enforcement officers involved in this case and the

foregoing facts set out in this case, your affiant knows: 

Tina Falkner and Mike Jones have been staying at 5151

Hemlock St, Raymond, WA 98577. 

Mike Jones is a family friend to the Settlemyre' s [ sic] and

has been to their residence on many occasions. 

Tina Falkner was recently observed planning a burglary

near the golf course. 
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Mike Jones has [ sic] recently heard bragging about

committing the burglary. 

Mike Jones has been trying to sell items possibly taken

from the Settlemyre residence. 

Tina Falkner and Mike Jones are known drug users and

known drug users are often involved in burglaries and theft. 

CP 21. 

Tina Falkner has previously been involved in theft." 

Based on the foregoing, Deputy Tully requested a warrant to

search the Falkner residence for items taken in the Settlemyre burglary. 

CP 22. A magistrate signed the search warrant. CP 13. 

b. CrR 3. 5 Hearing and Ruling

Jones and Falkner were directed to stay in the laundry room while

police executed the search warrant. 2RP' 6, 21, 28 -29. Police found a bag

on a table near the entryway to the kitchen. 2RP 9, 15, 61. There was a

small propane torch next to the bag. 2RP 45. Without giving a Miranda2

warning, Deputy Tully asked Jones and Falkner whom the bag belonged to. 

2RP 9, 16. Jones responded " Yes, that's my knifer kit." 2RP 9. A "knifer

I
The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: 1 RP - 

4/ 5/ 13; 2RP - 4/ 26/ 13; 3RP - 5/ 3/ 13; 4RP - 5/ 10/ 13; 5RP - 5/ 14/ 1' ); 6RP - 

5/ 15/ 13; 7RP - 5/ 17/ 13; 8RP - 5/ 14/ 13 ( voir dire). 
2

Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694

1966). 



kit" is used for smoking marijuana by heating up two butter knives, 

pressing the marijuana in between them, and inhaling the smoke. 2RP 10. 

Deputy Tully looked into the bag and found methamphetamine, burnt

butter knives, and plastic tubes. 2RP 10, 47. 

Jones was arrested and read his Miranda rights. 2RP 11, 17 -18, 26, 

35. Deputy Tully again questioned Jones about whose bag it was. 2RP 11. 

Jones again said it was his. 2RP 11 - 12. Jones also said it was his

marijuana baggie but did not realize any meth or other paraphernalia were

in the bag. 2RP 20, 42 -43. Deputy Tully asked about Jones' s drug use. 

2RP 12. Jones said he used meth recently. 2RP 12. 

The court ruled Jones' s first statement that it was his " knifer bag" 

in response to Deputy Tully's question about ownership was inadmissible

because it was elicited without the benefit of a Miranda warning. 3RP 7. 

The court further ruled Jones's post - arrest statements were admissible

because he had been given the Miranda warning by that time. 3RP 7 -8. 

C. CrR 3. 6 Argument and Ruling

Defense counsel moved to suppress evidence obtained during the

search of the Falkner residence on the ground that the search warrant was

unsupported by probable cause. CP 5 -22. Specifically, counsel argued the
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reliability prong of the Aguilar- Spinelli 3 test was unmet and the

information provided in the search warrant affidavit otherwise did not

show probable cause. CP 6 -7; 3RP 8 - 16, 19 -22. 

The State argued Jones did not have standing to contest the search, 

that probable cause supported the search warrant, and the affidavit in

support of the warrant showed the confidential informants to be reliable. 

CP 70 -73; 3RP 17 -19. 

The court denied the suppression motion, concluding a reasonable

magistrate could have found probable cause. 3RP 22. The court further

stated " Now, as far as specific findings and conclusions for the most part - 

I say most part because I don't remember everything in [the prosecutor's] 

brief and especially don't remember everything he just argued but I agree

with your line of thinking." 3RP 22. 

d. Amended Charges, Trial and Outcome

Following the CrR 3. 5 and 3. 6 rulings, the State filed an amended

information which dropped the marijuana possession charge and changed

the methamphetamine charge to mere possession. CP 24 -25; 4RP 13 - 14. 

The State later filed a second amended information that added a count of

bail jumping, alleging Jones failed to appear for a court date. CP 27 -29. 

3 Aguilar v. Texas, 378 U.S. 108, 84 S. Ct. 1509, 12 L. Ed. 2d 723 ( 1964); 
Spinelli v. United States, 393 U. S. 410, 89 S. Ct. 584, 21 L. Ed. 2d 637

1969). 



At trial, evidence relevant to the drug charges tracked what was

presented at the CrR 3. 5 hearing. 5RP 54 -56, 59 -60, 76, 78 -79, 127. The

residue contained in a plastic bag found inside the larger bag tested

positive for methamphetamine. 5RP 84, 89. There was heroin residue in

the tubing that was recovered from the bag. 5RP 85, 87, 94. 

Evidence also showed that Jones did not come to a January 25

court hearing, which formed the basis for the bail jumping charge. 5RP

62 -66, 118 -19; 123 -25. 

Jones, testifying in his own defense, acknowledged the bag was his. 

5RP 114. He put knives and pipes for smoking marijuana in it. 5RP 114. 

The torch was his. 5RP 116 -17. He did not know there was

methamphetamine in the bag. 5RP 115, 118. He further testified that he

planned to come to court on January 25 but could not get there because the

tires on his vehicle were slashed. 5RP 118 -19. 

The jury found Jones guilty of use of drug paraphernalia and bail

jumping, but was unable to reach agreement on the methamphetamine

possession count, resulting in a mistrial. CP 53 -55; 7RP 2. The court

sentenced Jones to 140 days total confinement, with a two year period of

probation attached to the .paraphernalia conviction. CP 58. This appeal

follows. CP 68 -69. 



C. ARGUMENT

1. THE SEARCH WARRANT WAS UNSUPPORTED BY

PROBABLE CAUSE, REQUIRING SUPPRESSION OF

EVIDENCE RECOVERED FROM THE RESIDENCE. 

The search warrant affidavit did not establish probable cause to

search the residence. First, the reliability of the confidential informants

was not established, the basis of knowledge for one of the informants was

not established, and the police investigation did not otherwise corroborate

the informants' tips. Second, the affidavit does not establish the requisite

nexus between the burglary and the place to be searched. The warrant

therefore did not satisfy the requirements of article I, section 7 of the

Washington Constitution and the Fourth Amendment to the United States

Constitution. The trial court erred in failing to suppress the evidence

found in the residence. 

a. Standard of Review

Whether a defendant has standing to challenge the legality of a

search is an issue of law reviewed de novo. State v. Link, 136 Wn. App. 

685, 692, 150 P. 3d 610, review denied, 160 Wn.2d 1025, 163 P. 3d 794

2007). 

The issuance of a search warrant is generally reviewed for abuse of

discretion. State v. Neth, 165 Wn.2d 177, 182, 196 P. 3d 658 ( 2008). 

While deference is owed to the magistrate, that deference is not unlimited. 
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State v. Lyons, 174 Wn.2d 354, 362, 275 P. 3d 314 ( 2012). No deference

is given " where the affidavit does not provide a substantial basis for

determining probable cause." Lam, 174 Wn.2d at 363. 

When reviewing the denial of a suppression motion, no deference

is owed to the trial court where, as here, the factual record consists solely

of documents. State v. Neff, 163 Wn.2d 453, 461 -62, 181 P. 3d 819 ( 2008). 

The trial court's conclusions of law and its application of law to the facts

are reviewed de novo. State v. Meneese, 174 Wn.2d 937, 942, 282 P. 3d

83 ( 2012); State v. Eisfeldt, 163 Wn.2d 628, 634, 185 P. 3d 580 ( 2008). 

The trial court's assessment of probable cause is therefore reviewed de

novo. Neth, 165 Wn.2d at 182. 

b. Jones Has Standing To Challenge The Search. 

The State claimed Jones had no standing to contest the validity of

the warrant because he did not live in the residence. CP 72. It is unclear

whether the trial court agreed. 3RP 22. But it erred if it did. 

Jones has standing to challenge the validity of the warrant because

he had a legitimate expectation of privacy in the Falkner residence. The

affidavit in support of the search warrant recites that Jones had been

staying at the residence for the last couple weeks. CP 18. Jones and

Falkner had permission to stay there. CP 21. Jones's status as an

overnight guest is alone sufficient to show he had an expectation of
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privacy in the home that society is prepare to recognize as reasonable. 

Minnesota v. Olson, 495 U. S. 91, 96 -97, 110 S. Ct. 1684, 109 L. Ed. 2d 85

1990). Overnight guests have standing to object to the search of a

residence. Link, 136 Wn. App. at 692. 

Even if Jones lacked a privacy interest in the residence, he still has

automatic standing to challenge the search and seizure. In Washington, a

defendant has automatic standing to challenge the legality of a search and

seizure " even though he or she could not technically have a privacy

interest in such property." State v. Evans, 159 Wn.2d 402, 406 -07, 150

P.
3 )

d 105 ( 2007) ( quoting State v. Simpson, 95 Wn.2d 170, 175, 622 P. 2d

1199 ( 1980)). " To assert automatic standing a defendant ( 1) must be

charged with an offense that involves possession as an essential element; 

and ( 2) must be in possession of the subject matter at the time of the

search or seizure." State v. Jones, 146 Wn.2d 328, 332, 45 P. 3d 1062

2002). 

Both prongs are satisfied here. The State charged Jones with

possession of methamphetamine with intent to deliver and use of drug

paraphernalia. CP 3 -4. The methamphetamine charge expressly contains

possession as an essential element. RCW 69. 50.4013( 1). And a person

cannot use drug paraphernalia without possessing it. RCW 69.50.412( 1). 

Jones was in constructive possession of the meth and paraphernalia
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because he identified the bag containing those things as his and the bag

was located in an area of the house from which the bag could be reduced

to actual possession immediately. 2RP 9, 11 - 12; see Jones, 146 Wn.2d at

333 ( dominion and control over an object " means that the object may be

reduced to actual possession immediately ") 

The automatic standing doctrine applies " if the challenged police

action produced the evidence sought to be used against him." Jones, 146

Wn.2d at 332. There is a direct relationship between the " fruits" of the

search and the challenged action because police searched the residence, 

found Jones's bag, looked into the bag, and found the drug - related

evidence, which comprised the fruits of the search. 2RP 9 -10, 15 -16, 47; 

see State v. Kypreos, 115 Wn. App. 207, 213, 61 P.3d 352 ( 2002) 

defendant had automatic standing to challenge search and seizure where

police entered a trailer in search of evidence, found the defendant, and

further search yielded an illegal gun, which constituted the " fruits" of the

first search), review denied, 149 Wn.2d 1029, 78 P. 3d 657 ( 2003). 

C. The Aguilar- Spinelli Test Is Unsatisfied. 

A search warrant must not issue unless there is probable cause to

conduct the search. U. S. Const. amend. IV; Wash. Const. art. 1, § 7; 

Lam, 174 Wn.2d at 359. " To establish probable cause, the affidavit must

set forth sufficient facts to convince a reasonable person of the probability
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the defendant is engaged in criminal activity and that evidence of criminal

activity can be found at the place to be searched." Lyons, 174 Wn.2d at

359. In determining whether the supporting affidavit establishes probable

cause, review is limited to the four corners of the affidavit. Neth, 165

Wn.2d at 182. " When adjudging the validity of a search warrant, we

consider only the information that was brought to the attention of the

issuing judge or magistrate at the time the warrant was requested." State v. 

Murray, 110 Wn.2d 706, 709 -10, 757 P. 2d 487 ( 1988). 

When the existence of probable cause depends on an informant's

tip, the affidavit in support of the warrant must establish the basis of the

informant's information as well as the veracity of the informant under the

Aguilar-Spinelli test. State v. Jackson, 102 Wn.2d 432, 433, 688 P.2d 136

1984) ( citing Aguilar v. Texas, 378 U. S. 108, 84 S. Ct. 1509, 12 L. Ed. 2d

723 ( 1964); Spinelli v. United States, 393 U. S. 410, 89 S. Ct. 584, 21 L. 

Ed. 2d 637 ( 1969)). To satisfy both parts of the Aguilar - Spinelli test, the

affidavit must state circumstances from which the issuing magistrate " may

draw upon to conclude the informant was credible and obtained the

information in a reliable manner." State v. Vickers, 148 Wn.2d 91, 112, 

59 P. 3d 58 ( 2002). 

The affidavit here did not establish the reliability of the

confidential informants. State v. Woodall, 100 Wn.2d 74, 75, 666 P. 2d
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364 ( 1983) is instructive. In Woodall, affidavits stated a deputy's belief

that marijuana would be found in two houses based upon the following: 

A reliable informant who has proven to be reliable in the past has given

information to Duane Golphenee that he /she has been in the house within

the last twelve hours and has personally observed marijuana being used in

the house. The informant is familiar with the appearance of marijuana." 

Woodall, 100 Wn.2d at 75. The Court held this recitation was insufficient

to show the reliability of the informant. Id. at 77. 

Similarly, the affidavit in Jones' s case recites the confidential

informant "provided reliable information on another case" ( CP 20) and the

other " has previously provided info. to PCSO that has proved to be

reliable." CP 21. These are conclusions about the informants' reliability, 

not facts supporting reliability. This is insufficient under Woodall. 

The " reliable information in the past" recital fails to disclose the

basis on which that judgment was made. Woodall, 100 Wn.2d at 77

citing 1 W. LaFave, Search and Seizure § 3. 3, at 516 -17 ( 1978)). Rather

than allowing the magistrate to make an independent judicial

determination of reliability, such a recital forces the magistrate to rely

upon the officer's characterization that the informer is reliable without an

underlying factual basis. Woodall, 100 Wn.2d at 77 -78. That kind of

affidavit falls short of the requirement, under the Aguilar- Spinelli standard, 
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that a neutral judicial officer rather than a police officer should determine

probable cause. Id. at 78. 

There is a critical distinction between facts and conclusions set

forth in an affidavit. Conclusions without supporting facts do not support

probable cause. The Court in Woodall thus distinguished its earlier

decision in State v. Fisher, 96 Wn.2d 962, 965, 639 P.2d 743 ( 1982) on the

basis that the affidavit in Fisher established a factual basis for reliability

rather than a mere conclusion about reliability. Woodall, 100 Wn.2d at

76 -77. 

In Fisher, the affidavit stated the informant provided " true and

correct" information in the past. Fisher, 96 Wn.2d at 965.
4

In contrast, 

use of the " reliable" descriptor in Woodall was a mere conclusion of the

affiant which could mean a number of things, and which was not

supported by facts. Woodall, 100 Wn.2d at 76. 

Jones's case is like Woodall, not Fisher. The affidavit in Jones' s

case offers an officer's conclusion about the informants' reliability, rather

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