NO. 45001-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

MICHAEL A. JONES,

Appellant.

STATE'S REPLY BRIEF

DAVID J. BURKE Prosecuting Attorney Pacific County, Washington

Office Address:

300 Memorial Avenue PO Box 45 South Bend, WA 98586

Telephone: (360) 875-9361

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State accepts the Appellant's Statement of the Case.

ARGUMENT

- 1. The magistrate did not err in finding that there was probable cause to issue a search warrant.
 - a. Standard of review.

The issuance of a search warrant is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. State v. Maddox, 152 Wash.2d 499, 509, 98 P.3d 1199 (2004). Discretion is abused when it is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wash.2d 12, 26 482 P.2d 775 (1971). In determining whether a search warrant is valid, a reviewing court considers whether the affidavit in support of the search warrant on its face contains sufficient facts to support a finding of probable cause.

"Probable cause is established when the affidavit sets forth facts sufficient to lead a reasonable person to conclude there is a probability the defendant is involved in criminal activity." State v. Young, 123 Wash.2d 173, 195, 867 P.2d 593 (1994), citing State v. Cord, 103 Wash.2d 361, 365-66, 693 P.2d (1985). When the sufficiency of a search warrant affidavit is reviewed, the affidavit must stand alone and cannot be supplemented with evidence or information presented during a subsequent

motion to suppress. State v. Blackshear, 44 Wash.App. 587, 590, 723 P.2d 15 (1986).

When a judge authorizes a search warrant, her determination is given great deference. State v. Cord, 103 Wash.2d at 366; accord, State v. Vickers, 148 Wash.2d 91, 108, 59 P.3d 58 (2002) (great deference is given to the probable cause determination of the issuing judge, and her discretion is reviewed only for abuse of discretion). Doubts about existence of probable cause are resolved in favor of the decision made by the judge who issued the search warrant. State v. Young, 123 Wash. 2d at 195. A warrant should not be viewed in a hypertechnical manner. State v. Garcia, 63 Wash.App. 868, 871, 824 P.2d 1220 (1992); State v. Partin, 88 Wash.2d 899, 904, 567 P.2d 1136 (1977) (an application for a search warrant should be judged in the light of common sense with doubts resolved in favor of the warrant). A judge who is asked to issue a warrant is entitled to draw reasonable inferences from the facts and circumstances relayed to him. State v. Maffeo, 31 Wash.App. 198, 642 P.2d 404 (1982).

b. Standing to challenge the validity of the search.

The State has reviewed the case law pertaining to what is necessary to establish standing to challenge the validity of a search warrant. Based on that review and the facts of this case, the State

concedes that Mr. Jones has standing to challenge the validity of the search warrant.

c. The search warrant in this case complies with the <u>Aguilar-Spinelli</u> test.

Washington courts apply the two-pronged <u>Aguilar-Spinelli</u> test to evaluate the validity of warrants issued where the existence of probable cause depends on an informant's tip. <u>State v. Cole</u>, 128 Wash.2d 262, 286-287, 906 P.2d 925 (1995); <u>State v. Salina</u>, 119 Wash.2d 192, 199-200, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). This standard comes from <u>Aguilar v. Texas</u>, 378 U.S. 108 (1964), and <u>Spinelli v. United States</u>, 393 U.S. 410 (1969). Under this test, the State must prove (1) the informant's basis of knowledge and (2) the informant's veracity and reliability. <u>State v. Tarter</u>, 111 Wash.App. 336, 340 44 P.3d 899 (2002).

The amount of evidence necessary to establish the reliability prong of the Aguilar-Spinelli test depends upon whether the informant is a professional or a citizen informant. State v. Northness, 20 Wash.App. 551, 556-57, 582 P.2d 546 (1978) (Washington courts have drawn a distinction between a professional and a citizen informant and have relaxed the showing of reliability as to citizen informants); State v. Wilke, 55 Wash.App. 470, 778 P.2d 1054 (1989). Thus, the determination of credibility depends to some extent on whether the informant is truly a

citizen informant, i.e., an innocent victim or an uninvolved witness to criminal activity. State v. Payne, 54 Wash.App. 240, 244, 773 P.2d 122 (1989). Because a "citizen who is an eyewitness or a victim lacks the opportunity to establish a record of previous liability, . . . evidence of past reliability is no longer required in the case of citizen informants." State v. Northness, 20 Wash.App. at 556. However, "heightened demonstrations of credibility [are required] for citizen informants whose identities were known to police but not revealed to the magistrate." State v. Ibarra, 61 Wash.App. 695, 700, 812 P.2d 114 (1991).

Even so, the Supreme Court has held that even if <u>nothing</u> is known about an informant, the facts and circumstances surrounding the furnishing of the information can support a reasonable inference that the informant is telling the truth. <u>State v. Lair</u>, 95 Wash.2d 706, 710, 630 P.2d 427 (1981). Where an informant's identity is known to the police but not to the magistrate, the informant may be deemed credible even if the affidavit fails to explain why he or she wishes to remain anonymous. <u>State v. Cole</u>, 128 Wash.2d at 288.

The Appellant asserts that the search warrant affidavit in this case is deficient because it "did not establish the reliability of the confidential informants." Appellant's Brief at 14. The Appellant relies primarily on State v. Woodall, 100 Wash.2d 74, 666 P.2d 364 (1983) in arguing that the

affidavit only provides conclusory statements regarding the reliability of the informants. Appellant's Brief at 14-17. In this instance, the Appellant has mischaracterized the status of the informants. Different rules apply for credibility determinations "depending upon whether the informant is (1) a "criminal" or professional informant, or (2) a private citizen." Northness. 20 Wash.App. at 555. Because the informants in this case are citizen informants, evidence of past reliability is not required to uphold a search warrant. United States v. Harris, 403 U.S. 573, 91 S.Ct. 2075, 29 L.Ed. 2d 723 (1971); State v. Chatmon, 9 WashApp. 741 748, 515 P.2d 530 (1973). Law enforcement knew the names of the informant, but their names were not included in search warrant affidavit because the citizen informants were fearful of retaliation. Since the affidavit indicates that the citizen informants were nothing other than uninvolved witnesses, the necessary showing of credibility is relaxed. However, under Ibarra some showing of credibility is required. This relaxed standard is met because the informants had provided reliable information in the past and because they feared retaliation. Consequently, the specter of an anonymous troublemaker is not present.

In the end, the Appellant has missed the mark in claiming that the search warrant affidavit is deficient due to a lack of reliability. A search warrant affidavit that contains information from citizen informants who

are known to law enforcement can pass muster even when there is little information in the affidavit that addresses the reliability prong of <u>Aguilar-Spinelli</u>. The information in this search warrant affidavit contains a heightened demonstration of credibility. The citizen informants here provided statements to law enforcement that were consistent with each other. This consistency diminishes the likelihood that law enforcement received mendacious information or that the informants were motivated by self-interest. Hence, the reliability prong of <u>Aguilar-Spinelli</u> has been met.

The Appellant also claims that the knowledge prong of the Aguilar-Spinelli test has not been met. Appellant's Brief at 17-18. In essence, the Appellant argues that the citizen informants did not have direct knowledge of the critical information that they relayed to law enforcement. The Appellant believes that the hearsay statements of the informants do not provide a sufficient basis of knowledge. Appellant's Brief at 18. Hearsay, however, can provide a sufficient basis of knowledge. State v. Jackson, 102 Wash.2d 432, 437-438, 688 P.2d 136 (1984). In this instance, one confidential citizen was able to corroborate the information provided to law enforcement by the victim, Brian Settlemyre. The second confidential citizen informed law enforcement that the defendant, Michael Jones, was relaying his knowledge about what

was stolen, was letting people know that his family was close to the victims, and was bragging about the burglary. This information came from at least two other people that Michael Jones had contacted. Significantly, the information provided by this confidential citizen included specific information about the defendant trying to sell an item that was similar to an item stolen from the Settlemyre residence. This single piece of information corroborates the truthfulness of what was told to the confidential citizen. While the information provided to law enforcement by the confidential citizens was hearsay, this information in conjunction with the other statements in the search warrant affidavit provided the necessary basis of knowledge to satisfy the knowledge prong of the Aguilar-Spinelli test.

Based in large measure on the information provided by the confidential citizens, law enforcement possessed the following knowledge that was relayed to the magistrate.

- *Tina Falkner and Mike Jones have been staying at 5151 Hemlock St., Raymond, WA 98577.
- *Mike Jones is a family friend to the Settlemyre's and has been to their residence on many occasions.
- *Tina Falkner was recently observed planning a burglary near the golf course [which is close to the Settlemyre residence that was in fact burglarized].
- *Mike Jones has recently been bragging about committing the burglary.
- *Mike Jones has been trying to sell items possibly taken from the Settlemyre residence.

- *Tina Falkner and Mike Jones are known drug users and known drug users are often involved in burglaries and theft.
- *Tina Falkner has previously been involved in theft.

See Appendix A, Search Warrant and Affidavit for Search Warrant.

While none of this information standing alone would satisfy the knowledge prong of <u>Aguilar-Spinelli</u>, a magistrate could make a reasonable inference from the totality of this information that contraband would be found at 5151 Hemlock Street in Raymond, WA, where Michael Jones and Tina Falkner had been staying.

In essence, this information should lead one to conclude that the citizen informants were not anonymous troublemakers. While more information about the informants could have been provided to the magistrate, the affidavit on its face is sufficient to justify the issuance of a search warrant. Moreover, this conclusion also is buttressed by the fact that a magistrate's decision must be accorded great deference and is reviewed only for an abuse of discretion. State v. Vickers, 148 Wash.2d at 108. Because there are sufficient facts for a rational decision maker to conclude that a basis of knowledge existed, the magistrate did not abuse her discretion in issuing the search warrant.

d. The search warrant affidavit contained sufficient corroboration to establish probable cause.

The Appellant also contends that the information provided by the informant lacks sufficient corroboration to establish probable cause. Appellant's Brief at 18-23. The Appellant cites a number of cases to support this assertion, e.g., State v. Rakosky, 79 Wash.App. 229, 901 P.2d 364 (1995) State v. Huft, 106 Wash.2d 206, 720.P.2d 838 (1986); State v. Cardenas, 146 Wash.2d 400, 47 P.3d 127 (2002); and State v. Neth, 165 Wash.2d 177, 196 P.3d 658 (2008). The upshot of these cases is that innocuous behavior, including efforts to secure one's residence and shield it from view, does not give rise to probable cause to search. In discussing the cases cited above, the Appellant analyzes each case in a hypertechnical manner and does not look to the totality of known suspicious circumstances to determine whether probable cause exists to search. State v. Sinclair, 11 Wash.App. 523, 531, 523 P.2d 1209 (1974).

For example, the act of covering one's windows in itself constitutes constitutionally protected behavior. Nevertheless, the fact that this action was taken shortly after police contact was initiated raises a modicum of suspicion. Similarly, when Mr. Jones talked to the police, he became nervous and gave answers that appeared to be less than candid. While acting nervous during a police contact certainly could be innocuous, engaging in furtive behavior and making false statements to law enforcement also can be considered in determining the existence of

probable cause. State v. Huff, 64 Wash.App. 641, 647, 826 P.2d 698 (1992); State v. Goodman, 42 Wash.App. 331, 338, 711 P.2d 1057 (1984) ("Improbable explanations and false answers to police questions . . . may give rise to probable cause"). Likewise, the fact that Mr. Jones had been in the victims' house does not ipso facto mean that he likely committed the burglary. Nonetheless, this fact is part of the pastiche from which probable cause to search can be found.

The magistrate made a probable cause determination in this case; this determination is accorded great deference and cannot be overturned absent an abuse of discretion. "All doubts are resolved in favor of the warrant." State v. Anderson, 105 Wash.App. 223, 228, 19 P.3d 1094 (2001). Because there are tenable grounds to support this finding when one looks at the totality of the information contained in the search warrant affidavit, the Appellant's argument should be rejected.

e. There was a sufficient nexus between the criminal activity and the place to be searched.

The Appellant's last substantive challenge to the search warrant asserts that there was an insufficient nexus between the criminal activity and the place to be searched. Appellant's Brief at 24-29. The Appellant relies on State v. Thein, 138 Wash.2d 133, 977 P.2d 582 (1999), in arguing that "[a] warrant to search for evidence in a particular place must

be based on more than generalized belief of the supposed practices of the type of criminal involved." Appellant's Brief at 24.

However, the general nexus requirement articulated in Thein has been refined by State v. McReynolds, 104 Wash.App. 560, 17 P.3d 608 (2000). The McReynold's court looked favorably upon an inquiry that addressed the type of crime, the nature of the missing items, the extent of the suspect's opportunity for concealment, and the normal inferences with regard to where a criminal would likely hide stolen property. A relevant consideration would include an assessment of the bulk and value of the missing items to determine whether they would likely be hidden at the alleged offender's residence. Another consideration would focus on whether the alleged offender had sufficient time to bring the stolen property to his residence before he/she was apprehended.

In applying these criteria to the present case, it is clear that Mr. Jones had time to take the stolen property to the temporary residence where he was staying. The size and quantity of the stolen items [see Appendix A, Search Warrant and Affidavit for Search Warrant] also indicates that it would have been difficult for Mr. Jones to store these items outside of his residence. Thus, a reasonable inference can be made that evidence of criminal activity could be found at 5151 Hemlock Street, Raymond, WA, where Mr. Jones and Tina Falkner temporarily were

living. By answering the relevant questions articulated in McReynolds, one should conclude that the nexus requirement has been met. For cases involving burglary, there does not have to be "a smoking gun" that connects the place where the stolen property was taken with the location where the requested search will occur. Hence, the argument of the Appellant regarding an insufficient nexus lacks merit.

f. The new issues raised by the Appellant can be adjudicated by the Court of Appeals.

Finally, the Appellant claims that he can raise search new and seizure issues for the first time on appeal. Appellant's Brief at 29-31. Although some of the issues raised by the Appellant in his brief were not argued at the trial court level, the Appellant's trial counsel did make a motion to suppress the evidence seized. Also, all of the facts necessary to adjudicate the new alleged errors are in the record since the arguments are limited to the search warrant affidavit. Therefore, pursuant to the holding in State v. Jones, 163 Wash.App. 354, 266 P.3d 886 (2001), the Appellant is entitled to have these new alleged errors adjudicated by the Court of Appeals.

2. THE MANNER IN WHICH PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES WERE EXERCISED DID NOT VIOLATE MR. JONES' RIGHT TO A PUBLIC TRIAL

Peremptory challenges in this case were all conducted in the open courtroom in the presence of the venire and any spectators who may have been present. Peremptory challenges were exercised at the Bailiff's table which was in plain view of the venire and spectators. However, the venire and any spectators would not have been able to hear what was transpiring. A written record of the actions taken in exercising peremptory challenges was recorded by the clerk.

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